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A complete R.N.Z.A.F. UNIT (UNIT NO 25).
488 SQUADRON. ROYAL AIR FORCE
PREFACE TO DIARY – T.M.BOYD.
WHAT THIS STORY IS ABOUT
SINGAPORE AND JAVA – DECEMBER 1941-MARCH 1942.

I
 have realised that in its present form my diary is simply of hard facts written to keep my memory refreshed so as to enable me to recount my full story to my family.
Of course there is much that at the time seemed to be of minor consequence and did not appear worthy of putting pen to paper.  Actually a minor day and night consisted of rising at 4-15 am, getting down to the aerodrome and preparing the fighting planes for the day, running them up at daybreak to avoid the exhausts being seen by marauding enemy aircraft, and seeing them safely off for repelling each air raid attack.  Between attacks, if they returned, attending to refuelling, rearming, changing oxygen bottles, and doping fabric over the gunports to reduce turbulence over the wings and so increase the airspeed in combat until the guns were fired.
Then at nightfall covering and securing the planes and then returning to our billets by about 8 pm to get what sleep we could between night raids.  Then up again at 4-15am.  In addition to all this, we did guard duty by roster on the aircraft every fourth night.
So little has been told about the ordinary people other than the pilots involved in the disastrous campaign.  I feel there is a story to be told.  I have decided to tell my story that I have verbally recounted many times although not recently, and it is highlighted by what the Captain of the Blue Star Line Steamship ‘Empire Star’ termed “That incredible morning of continuous air attack”.
The story of morale breakdown starts with the lack of moral fibre shown by a Royal Air Force Station Commander who finally shot himself.  It continues on throughout the breakdown of established discipline, culminating in the kicking to death of a ‘Red Cap’ British Military Policeman by Australian soldiers outside the Union Jack Club.
The sinking of the Capital ships ‘Prince of Wales’ and ‘Repulse” brought to an end all rational thinking.
The hopelessness of the defence of Singapore became apparent quite early in the campaign when all aspects were considered together.  The apathy of the Colonial British, the realism of the Dutch, the obsolescence of our equipment and machines, Vickers Vincents and Vildebeestes as front line bombers.  They were obsolete in the early 1930’s.  Brewster Buffaloes, 100mph inadequate as fighters with no self-sealing fuel tanks, and at the start, no armour plate for pilot protection.  Long range was their only attribute.  The jaded bored Royal Air Force Officers (some exceptions), when compared with our fresh keen New Zealand Officers and the Dutch Squadron on our drome.  The civilians regarded  the troops as the lowest class of society. Stupid discipline for mnior dress offences such as pack drill in the afternoon sun when it was up to 100 degrees in the shade.  Hatred of us by much of the populace.  They called us ‘White Devils’ to our face near the end and propaganda leaflets dropped by plane encouraged them to ‘rise and burn the white devils in the sacred flame of victory’, also depicted by drawings.  The enemy was at the causeway, and many still acted as if it was just a colonial outpost.  Troops going past the drome all day on the way to the front line, such as it was, and ambulances coming back all night until the supply of men and machines seemed to run out.
The loss of the battleships ‘Repulse’ and the ‘Prince of Wales ’caused further loss of morale amongst the troops, and this, coupled with the rapid enemy advance down the Peninsula showed how desperate the position was.  As a Flight Rigger on Kallang airdrome, it was as if I was a spectator to vast combat.  I spoke with the pilots, administration wallahs, civilian staff, soldiers, anti-aircraft crew and the populace.  It was a grandstand view on a grand scale, and on the ‘Empire Star’ I spoke with Nurses, Naval Personnel, Merchant Seamen, and in Java, to Submarine Sailors and to the Dutch.  It was set indelibly in my memory.
By the help of the Hand of Merciful Providence, I was never captured.  I was one of the one half of one percent who got away.  Approximately 14,700 Airforce men were captured by the Japanese between December 1941 and April 1942.   Only 3,462 were found alive at the end of the war in 1945.

I 
INTRODUCTION
                                                          
We assembled at R.N.Z.A.F. Station, Rongotai, Wellington.  Just over one hundred and fifty.  We were to be the first complete squadron of ground staff and pilots to embark for overseas service.  We were completely outfitted with new uniforms, both woollen and tropical, complete with two pairs of Monarch first grade shoes.  No boots for us, as we were to be a show piece from New Zealand, and Wing Commander ‘Tiny’ White inspected us all individually to see we were up to standard. We were to receive drill and weapon training, but after a bit of parade ground marching, and a number of lectures.  We received instruction for one short session on how to take cover.  This was given by an ex-world war one veteran. We never even saw, let alone handled, a rifle or any other weapon.  We were tradesmen, and considered to be the best, and picked from all the air force stations in NZ.  It was September 1941,and the first draft consisting of 96 officers and men, left in the middle of the month on board the Dutch passenger liner Tasman, and arrived at Singapore on 10th October.  Over the next six weeks, two more drafts left, and when the squadron finally assembled in Singapore, its strength was 10 officers and 143 Airmen (Sgt Pilots and ground crew).
We became 488(F) Squadron R.A.F.  Our Commanding Officer was Squadron Leader W.G.Clouston, and the Flight Commanders were Flight Lieutenant J.N.MacKenzie (A Flight) and Flight Lieutenant J.R.Hutcheson (B Flight).  All three men had been decorated with the D.F.C. In retrospect, Flt. Lt. Hutcheson was one of the three coolest and bravest men I ever knew.  As this story is essentially from the ground staff point of view, the other two men will be spoken of later.
Except for those three men, we were all of us unversed in the hard facts of war, and when the Japanese attack did come, we were totally unprepared for subsequent events.  However, we learnt fast, very fast in fact, right from the time when Squadron Leader Clouston told us if we wanted to stay alive, we had better start digging small foxhole - type slit trenches as quickly as possible.  How timely his warning proved to be. Other units with inexperienced leaders were not so fortunate,and learnt the hard way.
All of our Pilots, except for the three leaders, were only partly trained, and so for a period, did operational training at Kluang in Johore, but essentially were with the Squadron at Kallang on Singapore.  We all drifted through this phoney period of peace before the Japanese attack just as the forces on Singapore had done for years, and the first inkling any of us had that anything serious was wrong was two nights before it all started, when we were all sent back to our barracks in case of emergencies.  I was in town at the time,and the Army ‘Redcaps’ were everywhere, rounding up service personnel.  The next day, we went about our duties in a peacetime fashion.  I went off sick with a bout of dengue fever, and woke up from a deep sleep to see my friend Wally come into the barracks to tell me they were all on duty alert, as the Japanese had attacked Pearl Harbour, and had landed at Kota Bharu at the northern end of the Malayan Peninsula.  Before daylight the next morning, we were all at the drome preparing the old fashioned Buffaloe fighters for combat, to be flown by, except for the two flight commanders, partly trained pilots now thrust into combat on a full wartime mission.  
None of the planes had armour plating to protect the pilots, and the petrol tanks had no self-sealing for bullet holes as did the Dutch Buffaloes.  Ours were obsolete economy produced jobs, an indictment of the British peacetime thinking, and the then standard of American fighter construction.  The Americans thought the Japanese were far behind with their aircraft technology.  How wrong that proved to be.  They just shot us out of the sky at first, and it was not for a long time that we produced superior planes.  
However, back to reality with our warplanes. Within a couple of days, hastily cut armour plating arrived.  Many of the holes did not line up, and I remember Flt Sgt Stan Guiniven of B Flight, in which I was a flight rigger, saying to me that if we could not get the bolts in, we would have to tie the plates in with fencing wire, and which in fact we had to do in the finish, as the metal was too hard to drill for new holes.  The original ones were burnt through with oxy-acetylene gas.
But this story is really about those of us who kept those old machines flying, and a lot of what happened up to our escape from Singapore.  A bit about the why’s and wherefore’s, and our subsequent experiences in Java and escape to Australia.
What the reason was for shifting 100 octane aviation fuel all night under fire, and how it came to be that Wally and I fell asleep under the trees while an Australian Infantry Company was wiped out except for three soldiers just within a radius of 100  yards I do not know. 
Our deployment was in the front line with no military training as fighters whatsoever.  Just straight out into the rubber plantations. How we reached the wharves when ordered to Java to service the few remaining Hurricanes and why. Actually an even more incredible day than that previously mentioned, especially the episode concerning how we gave some Australian soldiers a ‘Tommy Gun’ at the wharf, and they turned it on the ‘Empire Star’.
What happened when we got to Java, our rejection by the Royal Air Force there, as we were to have been the token R.A.F. left in Singapore, as prisoners of war.  Our final acceptance by the Dutch,  and deployment on the airdrome.  The deteriorating attitude towards each other by the Dutch, the English, and the Americans, and why it came about.
The interesting part ends with our being escorted through the Sundra Straights by two American warships, one being the famed ‘Houston’ known as the ‘Galloping Ghost’, and much written about in America.  We were one of the few to get through.  We had a short encounter with the renowned ‘Exeter’(of Graf Spee fame at the Battle of the River Plate’).  What a beautiful vessel she was.  Shortly afterwards, she was sunk in the large naval ‘Battle of the Java Sea’.
Really, it is an incredible story of survival by either luck or merciful providence, or both, whichever your belief.  It is no fun being on the losing side in the greatest failure in British Military History.  There were few diaries kept, many were lost, and most of those of whom I knew personally are now dead.  I have a few photographs which I have managed to retain, all very interesting, and they all tie in with my story.
I recall vividly the bravery of our pilots, and the heartbreaking experience of assisting young, untried  and inexperienced pilots to strap themselves into the fighters, setting them off from the dispersal bay, often to never see them again.
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The Storm
Jan 12th 1942
Today, without warning, the Japanese struck.  All our kites in action, and we lost five of them.  All the pilots parachuted to safety.  We started the day well but finished badly.  Our fighters are a bit old.  Dutch fighter’s wonderful, best on the island. Flaps all day.  The guns of our aircraft, 8235, were not fired at all.  We heard the sounds of much bombing, but the bad visibility made it hard to see the planes.  I am told about 140 bombers were over Singapore all told.  (I have recently discovered an estimated 150 -  200 people died each day in the intense air attacks on Singapore in late January and early February 1942.  Estimates on some days reached 500 – comparable to a quiet day on the Western Front in 1914-1918).

Jan 13th 1942
Four more planes gone today.  One shot up and rendered unserviceable.  8235 again did not fire its guns.  Our fighters much inferior to the Japs, but the pilots are magnificent. Often outnumbered 10 to 1.  All pilots except one parachuted to safety.  When the pilot takes off, the last contact he has with this earth is Flight Rigger and Flight Mechanic.  When and if he returns, they are there to welcome him.  The pilots often entrust their wallets to them with instructions on what to do in the event of non return.  The plane, pilot, flight rigger and  mechanic are the sharp end of fighter warfare, and at the point of take-off, are all equal as men.  Seldom do officers pull rank at this action packed time.  The Sgt/Pilots become as one of us. We feel the loss of a pilot very badly, as we have come to know them so well.  This sharp end is backed up by Armourers, Electricians, Wireless Operators, Aircraft Hands, Clerks, Instrument Repairers, Cooks and the Administration. Maintenance Flight do all major repairs, and consists  mainly of Fitter 2 A and 2 E Trades led by Flt/Sgt Andy Chandler. (A or E stands for Airframe or Engine Fitters).  (End of notation.  Refer to nominal Roll of Personnel for details).

Jan 14th 1942
We lost three planes today, including Buffaloe N.F.8235.  Our pilot Sgt Don Clow has not returned.  Visibility is still very poor, and we are terribly busy on the ground, what with all these flaps and scrambles.

Jan 15th 1942
Alarm late this morning..Bombs were dropped, but I know not where.  Some of our aircraft were badly shot up and rendered unserviceable.  Have heard Don Clow parachuted safely.

Jan 16th 1942
There was a big raid on the town today.  Thirty bombers with fighter escorts at a high altitude escorted them. None of our planes damaged and none of theirs.  Ack Ack fire very ineffective owing to its antiquity.  



Jan 17th 1942
A huge raid today.  This morning we looked up and saw nine planes not quite heading in our direction.  I took little notice, and went on fitting an oxygen bottle to the aircraft on which I was working.  To do this it is necessary on a Buffaloe to climb through a side hatch in the fuselage to reach a point behind the seat.  The air raid siren went.  I took no heed except to speed up considerably.  Then, from behind the clouds, came another 63 planes – bombers!  Two waves of twenty seven and one of nine.  It was a terrifying sight.  To get into the fuselage, the wireless mechanic has first to remove the wireless chassis by releasing four mounting points, and then the rigger climbs in.  The wireless was quickly replaced, with no thought given to me being inside, and the pilot already being strapped in for immediate takeoff.  I banged and yelled and never have I seen such action.  The wireless was removed, I was almost dragged out, and the wireless was replaced.  All this seemed to happen while time stood still, no panic just urgency.  The pilot then gunned the motor and we all rushed madly for the foxholes and dived into the nearest we could find.  The Ack Ack fire was less than punitive, just pathetic.  Bombs were dropped all over the place, but none on Kallang thank goodness.  It was more in the nature of an air pageant than anything else.  The bombers were escorted by large force of fighters which were too small and too high up for us to see.  Seletar airfield was pounded. All our aircraft went into action and had a bad day.  We have only nine left now.  We only had the one big raid in the morning at 11 o clock.  That is about the usual time the enemy bombers reach our area.  There was nothing to worry us during the afternoon, except to reflect on the morning’s rude awakening, and the subsequent most disturbing and unpleasant thoughts.  However, we do have several Bofors Anti – Aircraft guns on the perimeter for protection against low flying raiders.

Jan 18th 1942
Big bombing raid today, waves of twenty seven.  Big fires started in town.  Four Hurricane Fighters arrived on drome today for 323 Squadron. Two more Buffaloes shot down today, the pilots bailing out and landing safely.

Jan 19th 1942
Six Buffaloes went strafing up country today, but two failed to return after meeting up with twenty six Japs.  

Jan 20th 1942
More Hurricanes arrived at Kallang today, but three have been wiped out leaving only eight. Three big raids today, in waves of twenty seven, but making seventy one in all as one shot down on bombing run.  We saw the black blob of smoke when it was hit.  Another shot down later.  The bombers had a large escort of fighters.  

Jan 21st 1942
Air raids from 9 am until 1 pm approx.  Bombs landed a few hundred yards from Kallang.  The bombs seem to be released almost in unison, and we can see the bomb doors on the aircraft flash on release.  It is pattern saturation bombing, very intense and this time they were undoubtedly meant for us.  Much damage was done to Katong district, and a petrol tanker was blown up, with the driver and his assistant just diving into a ditch in time.  Two Hurricanes were lost today.  Ack Ack blew up Jap plane in midair.

Jan 22nd 1942
Hell on earth today.  Fifty eight bombers approached Kallang drome at one time, and in the usual waves of twenty seven formations with one configuration.  That was at 9-30 in the morning, but for some reason, no bombs were dropped at that time.  At 11-30, a huge mass of bombers were seen rapidly approaching Kallang.  No alarm had been sounded.  Operations muffed things properly.  Detectors should pick up Japanese marauders at 80 miles away, and give numbers of them and the size and type when they are 20 miles away.  All the Brass Hats got tangled up in their own red tape, the dunderheads, and forgot the alarm.  They admitted afterwards that it was an awful blunder.  The boys just had time to wind up the starters by hand, a herculean task at any time, start the motors, pull away the chocks and wave off the pilots.  Then they had to run for the foxholes.  Some were only half way to them when the bombs started to land on the far side of the drome.  Leo Arden was one of these, and only just made it about a second after me.  Some did not make it to the foxholes, and just lay down between the dispersal bay mounds.




Jan 22nd 1942
Two of our men were killed; the bombs were falling when they were sending off the pilot, and had no time left to get to shelter. They were the Flight Rigger Ivan Anderson and Flight Mechanic Archie Service.  I, earlier in the morning, posted a letter to Archie Service’s wife in England, as he was attached from the R.A.F. He was a fine man.  I was due on the drome later, as I had been on guard duty all night, and was able to call at the drome post office on the way to duty and posted letters for several people.  The postal area and civilian air terminal were well plastered, so the delivery of any mail posted will be at best doubtful.  
Two other Aircraftsmen were only saved by a blast bank between them and a 1000lb bomb.  A lot of direct hits, both large and small were made on the Kallang Airdrome.  Hangar and Airport are totally wrecked as well as several buildings both on and off the drome, especially Geylang on the edge of town.  The Happy World Cabaret and an adjoining house of iniquity and degradation was wrecked, a dash good job too.  In places, there were huge craters up to fifty feet across and very deep, the swampy ground is very soft and the bombs penetrate very deeply.  There are a lot of unexploded bombs around the dispersal areas, and we just have to take our chances when going about our duties.  Shrapnel lying everywhere, and two Buffaloes on the ground completely wrecked.  Another was just taking off when shrapnel hit the pilot.  He still took off, but the plane dipped, wiping off the undercarriage and ploughed through a house and petrol dump building. They found the Pilot still in his seat, which had been pushed right back to the tail of the plane.  He was badly injured but still alive.  488 Squadron now has only three Buffaloes left of a total of 26 it has operated.  232 Squadron badly mauled, with many casualties. Only one of our three Buffaloes is still serviceable. 

Jan 23rd 1942
Two air raids today.  We got no bombs but Seletar collected a packet.  Eight Japs were shot down today.  232 Squadron lost four Hurricanes today in action, and another side slipped on landing and crashed, making a total loss of five for the day.  488 Squadron is to be equipped with all Hurricane Fighters tomorrow.  Leo Arden and I sent off the last 488 Squadron Buffaloe today.  Squadron Leader Clouston, our Commanding Officer, is being transferred to Headquarters Air Operations today.  We hope he stirs things up a bit, as they are at present the biggest lot of bungling fools ever.1914-1918 vintage tactics.  They seem to have no comprehension of the speed of modern air attack.  If they go on in the same way much longer, the island is doomed.  Even if they do take a pull, it might be too late. This applies to all the services, and the average man of ordinary rank seems to have little faith in the top brass. They consider them inept and not realising the gravity of the situation.  Flight Lieutenant J.N.Mackenzie, D.F.C. is to be our new C.O.  Chaps in 232 Squadron fired revolvers at random, and some of the bullets shot over our way.  We soon stopped that.  Late in the afternoon, a couple of low flying planes approached our drome.  We thought they were two of ours until the Bofors Ack Ack guns opened up on them when they recognised them as sneak enemy raiders.  They sped away at very high speed.  We had already taken shelter.




Jan 24th 1942
Japs dropped pamphlets today telling us on the 25th they were going to shell us from the sea and bomb us from the air.  No raids today on Singapore, just the pamphlet dropping.

Jan 25th 1942
Two air raids today.  They now seem to be just part of our existence to be taken in our stride.  We also received our Hurricane Fighters today, and are busy getting them operational. They are the later long fuselage type, but have desert-type air filters to the engine air intakes, which will slow them down somewhat.  In the first air raid, the Japs were intercepted over Johore Jungle where they jettisoned their bombs and made for home.  Here is how the second one occurred. We were working on the Hurris when unexpectedly, a number of bombs started to fall.  The visibility was nil, owing to clouds and rain, and we all made a dive for any foxhole that was handy, and huddled crowded together like frightened rabbits.  We are all pretty jittery about now, and even a shout upsets us.  The bombs kept coming closer and closer, but stopped just short of the airdrome.  There is no doubt they were meant for us and our new Hurricanes.  It was a miracle we escaped, but we can thank the cloud cover for saving us.  The Japs seem determined to get the Hurricanes, and I expect plenty soon. It was some packet they dropped today, in my estimation about 50,000 lbs of high explosive.  Once again the ineptness of the air raid detectors and Headquarters Operations nearly ended in tragedy for 488 Squadron.  However, there are a number of high altitude Ack-Ack guns now in action.

Jan 26th 1942
We had four air raid warnings today.  Bombs were dropped on Tengah.  Bombs were dropped all night with no warning. We all got out of bed fast and made for some shallow foxholes out the back, just before a stick of bombs landed very close to the school barracks.  I never knew my capabilities as a sprinter before.  I was lying just behind a chap, and as the explosions were taking place, I saw his legs, and they were twitching convulsively.  I looked at mine and they were doing the same.  Operations Headquarters seem to be getting more inept, and it seems as if Singapore is doomed.  One man in our flight won’t shower unless he has his tin helmet on. We wear them all day and keep them close at all times.  One Sergeant (not to be named), when the bombs fell close, took his hat from his head and placed it over his behind.  He seemed to think that was the highest and most vulnerable part of him and needed protection. Our Hurricanes are becoming serviceable, and some have been flown. The first time for most of our pilots. No training – Needs must when the devil drives.

Jan 27th 1942
It is only a matter of days now before Singapore must fall. I am now only waiting for the Jap troops to advance over Johore and our troops will then cross back over the causeway  to Singapore Island.  The Japs will sever the pipeline, (water), and then it will be only a matter of time.  This place is like Dunkirk, Greece and Crete, only there is no place to go. It will be terrible. In a week we shall be besieged I am sure.  I am told I am a defeatist, but I reply that I am a realist.  How can a hundred thousand poorly armed and led men hold up the march of a nation.  We might have held out-if- Singapore was not such a myth, a bluff.  Our equipment is outdated, poor, scarce, and the heads are a lot of fools.  Three air raids went this morning. First reconnaissance, but we sensed that they have our drome in view as target area no 2.  Second raid was on Seletar, a wave of twenty seven.  They come in twenty sevens, waves of twenty-seven, waves of twenty-seven. The third raid got Kallang.  Two waves of twenty-seven.  How I have learnt to dread that number.  Yes, they made one run with twenty-seven in one direction and another run about 30 minutes later with another twenty-seven  from a different direction.  The second wave we did not expect, as we had no warning, as usual a total shambles at Command Headquarters.  None of our planes took off , and we just had time to dive for our foxholes. I was terrified the whole time.  The foxhole shook like a ship in a storm, and the blast from a bomb at the back of the foxhole lifted the roof clean off and put it back almost in the same place again.  The suction effect following the blast is also very unpleasant.  Big and small bombs were dropped right across the drome.  Ten large bombs landed within 50 yards of our foxhole. Three large and innumerable small crater edges within ten yards, and the lips of one within ten feet. We got a terrible shaking up, but our foxhole did not collapse, as most of it was built above ground level, with sandbags , owing to the water level at high tide being near the surface.  It was built to hold only two, but in this case, three squeezed into it. Two Blenheims, four Buffaloes, four Hurricanes, and one Tiger Moth were completely destroyed or burnt.  Nine Hurricanes were written off as unserviceable along with one Blenheim and two de Havilland Biplanes.  Also, three petrol tankers, one Bofors Anti Aircraft gun, and several cars, trucks and buses destroyed.  One of the tankers was near our foxhole, and the burning fuel came within two feet of the edge.  The sloping build – up of earth and sandbags saved us.  (Leo Arden , Les Copeland and myself). Leo Arden looked out just as an oxygen bottle exploded in a burning plane.  He ducked quickly.  None of our boys were killed, but other Squadrons had heavy casualties, including the adjacent 232.  The drome is badly knocked about.  Being built on the sea level, it is on an old reclaimed salt water swamp, and now the ground is all bulging and sinking in different spots.  Nerves very bad.  Japs bomb with uncanny accuracy, even scoring direct hits on the planes from 20,000 feet and over. We can put up no fighters tomorrow, as we have none left serviceable.  It is the 27th, and we suffered from waves of twenty-seven. The Japs have knocked us out as soon as the Hurricanes arrived.  Spies must be everywhere.

Jan 28th 1942
We were up early working on the planes.  Maintenance section led by Flight Sergeant Chandler are doing a magnificent job repairing the damaged Hurricanes, using bits and pieces from one to make up another good one.  Even joining the wings from one to the fuselage of another, and a motor from a third.  Flight Riggers are doing smaller repairs to the less damaged airframes, and the Flight Mechanics and other tradesmen are checking out everything else for bomb splinter damage.  Also, bomb holes had to be filled in on the dispersal access ways.  When the air raid siren sounded, they evacuated us from the drome out to Katong, but the Japs were after a different target.  They wanted the ammunition dump and Air Headquarters at Katong.  As it was, we just passed through the township out of range of the bombs when they started to fall.  There is nothing so nerve-wracking  as the swish-swish of them falling.  The string of bombs fell across the township of Katong, but missed the ammunition dumps , as there was a miscalculation of ground wind drift on the part of the Japanese.  They apologised later over the radio for bombing Katong, as it was an accident they hit the township due to miscalculation. Many natives were killed in the raid.

Jan 29th 1942
Three air raids today. We collected no bombs but Seletar got another large packet from two waves of twenty-seven, with fighter escorts of about forty each. We are to be issued with rifles, bayonets, tommy guns, and machine guns to defend our drome.  Twenty thousand troops arrived today – poor devils. Just suicide to land them too.  The Troopship ‘Empress of Asia’, carrying troops, was dive bombed and hit. It caught fire and was beached.  The soldiers lost all their gear, and a tremendous amount of vehicles.  Bren Carriers and Anti Aircraft Guns also went down with it.  It is most unfortunate at a time like this.  I saw the fastest plane today that I have ever seen. It left great streaks of condensation behind it, and it was a great sight to see the Ack-Ack having pot shots at it, as the shells leave great long streaks on a clear day such as today.  The sky was criss crossed with the streaks, but the plane got away, flying at a great height.

Jan 30th 1942
Raided again last night.  Five alerts before midnight, and planes everywhere. Bombs dropped, fires started on different parts of the island.  The island can only last a short time now.  It is a terrible mess. I give it about two weeks, and reckon on an invasion in about one week.  A bad day for us.  We have no planes yet able to fly, and everyone is wandering around the drome either trying to get the planes serviceable, or filling in bomb holes. No one above the rank of our Flight Sergeants seems to be in charge at all.  It is a complete mess up once again.  A truck now slowly circles the edge of the drome, and when an alert sounds, it speeds up, picks up the workers and takes them into the rubber plantation, as most foxholes are now useless. Those already on board help to haul up the others, while the truck is travelling quite fast.  We are getting twelve new Hurricanes tomorrow, complete with pilots who have been through the Battle of Britain.  We understand they are to be flown to us from an Aircraft Carrier Transport.  We can now expect some more bombing.  They got Seletar again today, and the docks. They came in the inevitable wave of twenty seven.  Seletar, we believe, is razed to the ground. The drome is like a turnip paddock.  We hear gunfire a lot now.  The promised arms issued were just enough for guard duty on the drome and at our barracks. Some of our boys have been able to obtain revolvers while on detached duties at the badly damaged other airfields.  At night, the burning “Empress of Asia” lights up the whole sky and together with the glare from the other fires, it is possible to read quite easily.

Jan 31st 1942
Troops evacuated from the mainland today, and the Causeway to the island is to be blown up. We are packing up as we are to be evacuated shortly.  Tengah and Seletar are within shelling range.  Sembawang airfield is almost within range with shells landing close by.  We are the only drome really out of range of the Japanese guns.  Malaya is finished, and the battle for Singapore has begun.  I give Singapore a week to ten days after the main water supply from the mainland has been cut to the island reservoirs.  Seletar has been bombed again.

Feb 1st 1942
I was on guard last night, and as it was at the school barracks, I did a four hour stretch and went to bed.  We were dragged out of bed at 3am and told to pack by 7am. Someone blundered and we missed the boat.   (Note. We found out later that 232 Squadron and other personnel had stolen a march on us as colonials, and had been substituted for us.  Ranking English Officers were looking after their men.  As it turned out however as is mentioned later in this diary, the ship taking them to Sumatra was sunk with many casualties. They did us a good turn, and contributed towards our survival as a complete unit).  Just as a treat, were given some more Hurricanes, but they left us without any gear to service them with, so we are in a pretty fix.  Operations have now decided we are to stay here.  Bofors Guns taken to the front as anti tank weapons.

Feb 2nd 1942
All our Hurricanes left us today at 6-30am.  Our wonderful New Zealand pilots have taken over the Hurricane Fighter planes with no conversion training whatsoever, and flown them as if they were veterans.  Real brave men.  We believe the destination is Java.  We now eat at the Japanese Hotel. The food we have had lately is atrocious.  Raids all day and night now, and our nerves are gradually packing up.  Little food, mo sleep, long working and guard duty hours and the noise of shell fire is terrific.  I saw a carcase of beef just dumped outside the cookhouse at the Japanese hotel.  It looks as if we may get some food soon .  

Feb 3rd 1942

We were given a talk today by our old Commanding Officer Squadron Leader Clouston, and he told us we were there as a maintenance unit until further notice.  It was intended we should leave the island at a later date and re-equip somewhere further south and thence return to Singapore.  He seemed confident that the island would be held, but I doubt it very much.  I still say the island is doomed.  The raids never cease by day or night.  They come in waves of twenty seven planes continually by day and singly by night.  If the island gets any more holes in it, it will most probably sink.  We have no kites (planes) at present, so we caught upon some sleep.  Twenty seven planes bombed the docks and another twenty seven attacked Seletar.

Feb 4th 1942
We are still having raids night and day.  The shell fire never stops, and is very loud.  Shells are landing only a short distance away, and shake our barracks at night.  We are to get some more Hurricanes tomorrow.  Ship evacuating Airdrome Construction Unit (New Zealand Unit No 24) is sunk at the wharf during a bombing raid.  A lot of airdrome construction equipment was lost along with one man killed , with several others badly injured.  We are definitely here, I expect, until the last, which can’t be far away in spite of what the dumb British Leaders say.  They are the biggest, incompetent fools on earth, and seem to be getting all the dirt.  Some men are sent to Sembawang airfield to sleep, but just get there when the Japs shell the ammunition dump and blow it up.

Feb 5th 1942
In spite of all the shambles around us, morale in our Squadron is high.  The pilots are resolute, and are extremely brave men.  The ground staff on the flights and in maintenance are working like demons to keep the planes flying.  A dozen new Hurricanes arrived this morning with crack pilots, and another eighteen arrived in the afternoon.  This morning before any of the Hurricanes landed, we had a terrific bombing raid.  It ran right down the aerodrome extension, and straight past the Dutch dispersal foxholes where we are now sheltering.  Once again, it was all sudden and without warning.  We all crowded and grovelled in the foxholes like frightened rabbits.  We were all fearful.  I now know what stark fear is, when suddenly faced with the unexpected.  You sweat terrifically and  shiver all over involuntarily.  They seem to be aiming at the centre of your back, and the hammer blows of the bombs which seem to start a long way away, and then a –zing—zing---zing----whoof-----zing----whoof,  and they gradually go away again.  And the relief when it is all over. You feel so helpless, being unable to hit back. You just sit there and your mind whirls, and you hope for the best all the time, dreading a terrible shattering blinding hammer blow of extreme terror and agony if the bomb should hit your puny miserable little foxhole in which you are sheltering like a scared kitten.  If only we could fight back, to be given a sporting chance.  But when there is no opposition to the Japs and they can pick the exact spot they wish to hit, it is just hell on earth.  One is stricken with a terrible fear as well as anger at not being able to hit back.  When it is all over, one crawls out of the foxhole, joins ones comrades, and laughs and jokes a little idiotically to try and cover up one’s nervousness.  When bombs are falling all men are equal.  They have to take cover and grovel into the earth, the whole lot of them from the Air Marshall down to the lowliest erk.  Some amazingly can hide their feelings and can appear unmoved.  (This written minutes after a raid).  Today, a section of B Flight were sent to Sembawang, but it was being shelled for about an hour, so they had to withdraw to Tengah.  They were heavily shelled, their transport took off without them and they had to crawl along ditches and make their own way back under shellfire.  They arrived back at Kallang in a murderous mood, and if they could have caught those responsible for their abandonment, dire retribution would have taken place.  The word ‘shooting’ was spoken.
(At this point, I am going to include an episode related to me by the then leader of B Flight Pilots, the then Flight Lieutenant and later Squadron Leader John Hutcheson, D.F.C. (now deceased), one of the coolest and bravest men I have ever known.  He related to me this at a reunion of 488 Squadron many years after the war. 
He said he was leading a flight of three Hurricanes and when he came to land at Kallang, the drome was out of action so he landed his flight at another drome (name withheld).  It was absolutely deserted and an air raid warning was still on.  He said he took his two pilots into the deserted officers mess. They had a couple of drinks to soothe their nerves after being in action, and then the all clear sounded.  Well, out of the rubber trees and surrounding shelter all of the station personnel came out of hiding.  The Commanding Officer of that R.A.F. Aerodrome demanded to know why they had landed on his drome of all places possible.  He said “If they know you are here they will bomb us”, and he told them to take off immediately.  Such was the depth to which morale and confidence had sunk in some areas.  I was told that at a later date , that Commanding Officer took his own life with a pistol.  At this time, the morale of our own New Zealand 488 Squadron remained at a peak, and was to retain that standard right through the subsequent events, even though we all knew the odds were stacked heavily against us. 488 was a magnificent team from the top downwards.  Our engineering Flight Sergeants were only the best, and true leaders, and the same applied to all the other Non Commissioned Officers.
Further to this,  John Hutcheson told me his experiences in escaping capture by the Japanese.  It was an amazing story, but being a modest man he kept it to himself, and I was privileged to hear it.  It ranks with all the great escape stories, but must now remain forever unrecorded).

Feb 6th 1942
We are now operating 232 Squadron planes as well.  We send off the Fighters when a raid is approaching, and then clear out in trucks along the coast until it is over.  We return in time to service the planes that do survive.  To remain on the drome during attacks would be suicidal, and we have to survive to look after the aircraft.  We are the last maintenance unit left on Singapore.  It was guard duty again last night, and they gave the drome a real pasting.  Six raids in three hours before midnight.  Several times we just had time to dive for the foxholes before bombs landed a few yards away.

Feb 7th 1942
We are still operating in the same way.  Today we used an air raid shelter across the road at Gammon (Malaya Ltd) works compound.  It is the only real purpose –built air raid shelter on the island, and was built privately for Gammons employees.  The bombs chased us again and just about finished off the drome this time.  Heavy stuff landed all around the shelter, and it was like a canoe in a storm.  We sure were glad when it was all over, and we were still in one piece.  (Note-We never again used that shelter which was just as well as later it received a direct hit and was demolished).

Feb 8th 1942
Our Hurricane Squadrons did well today scoring 22 victories, all told including probable kills.  The Battle of Britain pilots in their hump-backed early type Hurricanes, flown to the island from a transport-converted carrier somewhere in the Indian Ocean, are superbly seasoned in air combat.  Our New Zealand pilots are now becoming combat-wise, and have been credited with four kills.  Their conversion to Hurricanes consisted of being thrust straight into battle.  It says much for their original training in New Zealand.  Our fighters with heavily-filtered carburettor air intakes are inferior in speed to that hump-backed type as flown by the British Pilots.  So all the more credit to our airmen. Unfortunately, one of the carrier-supplied Hurricanes, while taking off, struck the mast of a junk passing up the main canal at the side of the drome.  It somersaulted to earth, killing the pilot, who had been a crack long-distance flying ace before the war.  A sad loss.  Most of the raiders today were repulsed, only two waves reaching the city.  We still shelter in the rubber trees while the planes are airborne, as to stay on the drome is not healthy, with a great danger of lead poisoning.  We never got to eat any of the carcass of beef supplied to the cookhouse at the Japanese Hotel.  It was just left lying and is now a seething mass of maggots.

Feb 9th 1942
Six kills were claimed this morning, so we are still getting successes, although we still find we have to leave the drome. Hand – starting the Hurricanes with a winding handle is extremely hard, and the safety margin between warning and attack is very small.  Our tradesmen have no trouble servicing the Hurricanes thanks to our excellent training in New Zealand.  It is not so much the air combat which wipes off our planes as the bomb holes in the runway.  The planes just pile up in them and wipe off the landing gear and propeller.  Hardly any runway is left and even if the holes are filled they sink about a foot overnight and catch the unwary.  Some planes overshoot.  The Japs landed on the coast last night, so it won’t be long before Kallang is within range.  Earlier on, we had an Indian Works Company to fill in the bomb holes and keep the runways in operation.  They worked all night plugging the holes with sand bags and then re-surfacing with earth.  However, they decided to do it during the day instead. We told the English Officers in charge to get them off the runways when the air raid warning sounded, because if any personnel were caught above ground when the raiders struck, they would be wiped out by the daisy-cutter type anti-personnel bombs which destroyed everything at ground level. We told them of the small margin of safety between the warning and an attack.  The Officers said that would not be necessary as in the event of a raid they would just lie down flat and accept that possibly one or two of them would become casualties.  (The old military theory men are expendable).  We were ignored-almost sneered at.  When a raid did come the whole Works Company lay down on the ground as they were instructed, and were wiped out almost to a man.  Once again inept class conscious Officers who would not listen to ordinary erks, were responsible for this tragedy.  And so we lost our runway repair workers.  With just ourselves left to maintain all the available aircraft, we were not able to cope with the massive damage to the airfield surface.  It took us all our time to just maintain the access ways.  And so the landing crack-ups continued, with most being write-offs.  Breakfast one day recently consisted of a piece of fish so small it could fit inside a matchbox. ‘Knocker’ White did just that with his piece and took it to the Commanding Officer.  He demanded that we should have something better.  He was told “This is mutiny”, to which he replied “No Sir not mutiny, this is only one man”.  Things did improve marginally but not for long. Some of us  know a Maltese family who will sell us a meal of fried eggs, but at a very high price, and we get on well with the native shopkeepers.  Sometimes they will let us buy chocolate and one even sold me a tin of Del Monte strawberries.  Large fires are burning out of control, but our school barracks are still intact except that the bamboo shower walls outside have been blown away.  We have to shower in the open in full view of the natives, but few of them take much notice.  The showers are a temporary arrangement in the school quadrangle.  The cooled water drinking fountains have now all been destroyed, hot tea is scarce and so many of us purchase either beer or ‘red spot’ brand soft drink.

Feb 10th 1942
The Hurricanes flew off to Java this morning, at least those that were left.  All six of them.  What has been happening is that a reformed squadron of planes arrives on the drome, fights for three days and then those that are left return to Java. Then the next day another flight arrives and it goes through the same procedure. Only a handful make the return journey , and the six was the most we have sent on the back flight.  One day it was only four.  Not all pilots are lost.  As described earlier, planes can be damaged while landing owing to the ground and bomb holes, and are sometimes destroyed by a slow takeoff. Usually in these cases of slow takeoff due to a hard starting engine (the engines are now started by hand-winding of an inertia starter, and the rigger has to wind  like hell as lives are literally at stake with the safety margin down to split seconds), both pilot and ground crew lose their lives.  One example was ACI Anderson, AC2 Service, (seconded from an R.A.F.unit), and P.O.Farr.  As I was due on duty later that morning, Archie Service had given me a letter to post to his wife, and then shortly afterwards, he was killed.  I had only just posted the letter at the civilian air centre.
Most of the day we spent in the rubber trees, as it was dangerous to risk the journey to the Japanese Hotel for food.  One had to traverse a section of road for a distance of about half a mile which we called ‘Hells Half Mile’, as there was no shelter whatsoever and in a raid it was a case of sprint for your life.  No rations were sent to the drome, as everything was a complete chaos with all supplies breaking down.  The food is terrible. A meal is a slice of bully and two hard tack biscuits.  We go out at night and scavenge around for food.  I have made some good contacts as mentioned earlier. The fuel supply of high octane petrol has run out at the Flying Boat Base, and the tankers have to be filled from cans before the Hurricanes can be filled on the drome. It is agonising waiting for the tankers to arrive as so many planes could be caught on the ground.  Last night Leo Arden slept right through the bombardment (upstairs at the school).  Above him hanging on the wall was a stuffed crocodile and the vibrations at times were sufficient to throw it several inches away from the wall.
Today, a Headquarters Wallah (R.A.F.) saw Flt/Sgt Stan Guiniven refuelling a Hurricane by standing on the wing and pouring from a can.  He said it was risking the aircraft .  Stan told him to b---off as he was holding him up as the plane was needed.  At that moment, a reconnaissance Jap plane came over.  The sky was criss-crossed with vapour trails from both the plane and the anti-aircraft fire.  The R.A.F. Officer Wallah disappeared not to be seen again, and through all the commotion Stan Guiniven kept pouring petrol.  P.O.Godsiff was there at the time.

Feb 11th 1942
Last night we spent six hours shifting thousands of gallons of high octane fuel contained in ten gallon drums from the dump adjacent to our drome, to the Flying Boat storage tanks right on the opposite side of the drome, where they were poured in in readiness for refilling the tankers quickly in the morning. Finally when we returned to the drome in our truck for the last load, our N.C.O. in charge Flt/Sgt xxx said to the member of ‘ x’ party at the guardhouse entrance that we were there to blow up the drome.  The N.C.O. thought he was being clever but the ‘x ‘party guard took it seriously and after initial hesitation, said to go ahead before he was quickly put wise.  Afterwards, Leo Arden said the joking Flt/Sgt could have had us all shot by the guards.  All this happened while bombing was taking place, the whole sky was like day with all the fires, and we were in a pocket between the two sides shelling each other with the shells passing overhead.  We are so tired we even walk by unexploded bomb holes without another thought.
When we finally got back to the school, I can’t remember if we even had breakfast we were so shattered after three nights and days without sleep and little rest, that our only thought was to find somewhere safe to lie down.  Wally Murray and I went into the rubber trees and scrub for a short distance to where we knew there was a trench dug.  We went to sleep in the shelter of some scrub.  We were awakened by the noise of gunfire but took no notice as thought it was just some of our squadron firing of tommy guns they had acquired at the deserted naval base area.  However, we looked about a bit and then we saw three soldiers coming towards us.  When they reached us they said they were all that were left from an Australian Company. They were a Major, a Sergeant, and a Private.  We were advised to get back to our unit as quickly as possible and tell them the news.  We knew the Japs were on the island but were not aware how little of the island was left in our possession.  We went back to the school, passed on our information and before long were issued with ancient American five shot rifles and bayonets. As there were not enough to go around we had to draw straws for them. I drew a rifle and Wally said to me he would like the bayonet which I gave him as he missed out.  We were all divided up into sections, and under an N.C.O. were sent out to be deployed to meet the Japanese who were just on the other side of a canal in the adjacent rubber plantation. Wally and I were separated at this point.  He was to be a stretcher bearer or despatch orderly or something.  My N.C.O. was Sgt Yanovitch, a fiery man who took us up to within sight of the canal on the other side of which were the Japs.  He set out our positions and I well remember Dusty Rhodes settling down beside me in a favourable position behind a rubber tree.  By this time, we had lost all touch with reality and failed to recognise the gravity of the situation except that we would probably be killed.  (note.  Here we were totally untrained as soldiers, some were holding rifles for the first time in their lives, and we were facing seasoned troops fresh from war in China and who had fought their way down the Malayan Peninsula).  My thoughts were what a place to die in this stinking hole, and my thoughts of those in the High Command who brought this about were treasonable.  I had read many stories of the Wild West and hoped that I would not get a bullet in the stomach as had been so vividly described by Clarence Mulford, who wrote about Hopalong Cassidy.  I hoped for one in the head.  Fear was overshadowed by rage and hate of British incompetency.  As said before, we were totally in a never-never state of mind.
At a few minutes before two o clock, we received word that we were to withdraw and to make our way to the docks to be evacuated to Java.  The reason for this was that the entire 243 Squadron of ground staff had been on a boat sunk on the way to Java where they were to service the remaining Hurricanes. Originally, they had been sent to Palembang, but the Japanese invasion of Sumatra had changed all this.  At the eleventh hour we were needed. Another version of why we were evacuated was that a high Air Force Officer said we were too valuable to be left behind as token Air Force as later disclosed when we arrived at Batavia. The story is that this ranking officer directed our evacuation against orders. Subsequent much later discussions have disclosed that that officer may have been s/ldr W.G.Clouston our Commanding Officer who had been seconded to Headquarters as an acting Wing Commander. (All this is only conjecture).
We made our way back to the school where we had our Headquarters, under the guidance at the start of Sgt Yanovitch.  He got us through the hard part of where we were harassed by snipers and dive bombers and aircraft strafing runs.  He directed us when to seek cover and when to run for it.  I feel even though he was a very brave man and very capable, he took us too far into the ‘lions den’ as the saying goes. However, he got us out again, although at times we had to run for our lives. I threw away much earlier a couple of tins of herrings in tomato sauce I had acquired for breakfast and had not had a chance to open, and did not think I would ever need them.  They were in my pockets and were really hampering my movements, so I had nothing to discard as others did in the run to the docks.  At 2 0 clock, the Japs had attacked across the canal where we had been and so we were saved from being wiped out by just two minutes in time.  So just one more of our cats nine lives used up. (Note Sgt Yanovitch later became Aircrew and was shot down in Germany.  He was killed , but Cpl John Adcock has discovered he was alive when reaching the ground , but possibly killed by civilians who had been devastated by our bombers. Again this is only conjecture and it may be or may not be true that he died in such circumstances).
Once back at the school we packed one kit bag with essential items. Everyone was accounted for and I met up with Wally again.  We were told if we reached the docks by six o clock we would be in time, and some of the unit took off on their own.  From then on, it was every man for himself to a certain degree.  Some others found trucks.  One overturned in the Botanical Gardens and one man broke his arm. A number of us including myself and Wally boarded a bus.  We placed our kitbags around the inside of the sides for protection and the driver, an R.A.F. man took off with the bus jammed full.  Despite bombings, strafing, and snipers, he never flinched and drove that bus direct to the wharves without stopping.  A journey none of us could ever forget.  On arrival at the wharves, a huge air raid was in progress. Those on the trucks arrived much later as they had no protection and were dive-bombed and machine-gunned the whole way.  For them it was hellish ride, as they had to pile in and out of the trucks to shelter in the ditches.  By a miracle, the only casualty was that broken arm.
We sheltered among the heaps of coal until a break came in the almost continuous air raids.  During one raid, Wally helped a Wing Commander out of a slit trench.  He had jumped into the trench and as he had a pack on his back, he stuck halfway and could not move without help. What happened to him finally we never did discover.
The town was a scene of indescribable destruction. The docks, when we arrived, were even worse.  I had a terrible time getting off the shore and onto the boat in between raids. It was the “Empire Star” we were to board.  In front of it was a gunboat armed with a Bofors anti-aircraft gun.  The gunners were doing a magnificent job.  I saw two dive bombers shot down into the sea hardly two hundred feet away.  One of them had the tail shot clean off.  At the foot of the ladder up the side was a ship’s officer.  He told us if we were able to get aboard and then two decks up we would be safe, except in the case of a direct hit.  As those two dive bombers started their run I was on the wharf, and so quickly did I scale that ladder and then two decks above, that I was in time to see them shot down.  On the way up, another ship’s officer took my rifle to be stored in the hold.  
On the ship, we were subjected to continual bombing raids.  Waves of twenty seven.  How that number pounds in my brain.  We were crowded with service and civilian escapees of all sorts.  It is too late to call them evacuees – it is pitiful.  Never before have I seen so much stark terror.  Just along a bit there is a milling crowd of civilians all hoping for a miracle to save them.  To view them is absolutely soul destroying.  The last hours of Singapore are definitely here.  It is now 4 0 clock in the afternoon and we are told the Japanese are through the Botanical Gardens and are just outside the brick walls of the docks.  Too close.  We are told we would all be better below decks.  A number of Australian soldiers who have climbed aboard have been told they have no right to be there and have deserted their mates.  They have been rounded up, that is all who could be found, and have been forced back onto the docks.  They have asked if they could have one of our tommy guns instead of it being placed in the hold. We threw it to them and in their anger, they turned it on the side of the boat.  What a waste of precious ammunition.  That is what they thought of us.
As the Japanese  are all round the perimeter of the docks, the Captain has decided to sail, leaving the docks crowded with soldiers and humanity of all kinds.  It is only six o clock and the projected time of departure was eight o clock when it would be dark.  The fast enemy advance has overtaken time.  However, it is slowly getting dark and we have been told we can come above decks when we are out of machine gun range.  At this stage I have become separated from Wally, but have joined up with Leo Arden, my mechanic partner.  I have been watching a R.A.F. Sergeant open a tin of stew.  He saw me looking at it hungrily and asked me when I had last eaten.  I said I had had little sleep or food for three days. He gave me the tin.  It was the best meal I had ever had and I reckon it was also the best pom I have ever known.  
We are now moving fast, and I am now up on the bow and gazing upon a hundred thousand million dollar fire. The great fire of Singapore.  The great sacrifice of a hundred thousand Britishers. Note The final count was almost double that number when civilians were included. Over one hundred and fifty thousand were troops alone on the island plus all the Air force and Naval causalities in the combat zone. It is estimated that in the war zone of the Far East of Malaya, Singapore, Sumatra, Java and later Burma, that a total of an estimated fourteen thousand seven hundred men fell into Japanese hands during the period between December 1941 and April 1942. This refers Air force only. At the end of the war in 1945, only three thousand four hundred and sixty four were found alive).
Leo Arden and I have found a large coir mat on which to lie down and watch the great conflagration.  The myth of British invincibility is gone.  How can a hundred thousand men poorly armed stop the surging might of an Empire armed to the teeth.  The hitherto despised Japanese Empire now proving itself to be one of the greatest martial nations of all times.  The Chinese Incident was but a practice field.  In the east we are outnumbered, outmanoeuvred, outgunned.  Our navy is too small but is doing a heroic and superhuman task.  I fear it will be too much for them.  The convoy before ours lost four out of five ships. I wonder what will happen to us?  The decks of our ship are crowded with mankind teaming everywhere like ants.  There must be three thousand of them.  It is impossible to move.  (Officially it was estimated that three thousand five hundred souls were aboard).
I have found a spot to sleep on the stern.  I have woken up, it is 11 0 clock and there is a great glow in the sky.  We have stopped for what reason I know not but we are out of sight of land.  We must be waiting for an escort or the rest of the convoy.  I must get some sleep.  The iron deck is dirty and hard, but it feels like a feather bed after the last anxious days.  Leo Arden, a very good man, has just asked me if I would like to join him in prayer for our escape so far from what I call the ‘closing of the dragon’s mouth’.  After much thought I have decided not to do so as if I did I would be a hypocrite, not having been inside a church but once in over ten years.  Leo has gone ahead and offered up his prayer along with his rosary beads.  I am sure he spoke for me too.  I did keep close to him from then on.



Feb 12th 1942
We have had breakfast – bully and biscuits – about an ounce for each of us.  I have two tins of coffee and milk I have had given to me, but I can’t use them as there is no hot water.  There is precious little fresh water either.  The bombers are coming – I must away quickly.  
The bombing is over.  I have filled my pen and the time is too late in the afternoon to expect any more bombs.  It is well past their usual bombing time for afternoon raids, so I feel quite happy again.  We were dive-bombed, dive-bombed and machine – gunned and generally given hell from 8am till 1pm.  In all, 147 aircraft attacked, but the Skipper was a marvel and got us through by his skill in handling the boat.  The chaps who manned the machine guns were real heroes.  Many lost their lives to save the boat and all the human souls she carried.  We had many nurses on board who looked after the wounded.  In one incident between attacks, two of them were attending to a badly wounded Australian machine gunner when there was another strafing attack.  Instead of running for cover themselves, they laid down and covered the wounded man with their own bodies.  Later, for their brave and compassionate action, they were decorated.  One received a ‘George Cross’, and the other an O.B.E.  How I found out about this was when I found the address of one of the nurses on board that day.  Forty-five years earlier she had written to my fiancée and told her she had seen me in Java, and that at that time I was still alright.  I found that letter amongst some old documents I was sorting , so sent out a searching letter to Australia.  After several weeks, it found her and I enclose the following extracts from her letter to me.
Letter from Mavis Mulvihill- Australian Army Nurse   1987.
As much of this letter was personalised, I am writing of  a few extracts which are of interest.  It starts-
‘Dear Max Boyd,
Your letter was certainly from the wartime past.
I always remember that date particularly when the 13th is a Friday, and also when the 13th March is a Friday.  They both were again this year.  
We arrived in Fremantle on the 13th March 1942, and were kept out in Northam, an army camp about 40 miles away.  I think they thought we might be a bit ‘troppo’ before they brought us right home, but we did meet up with some R.A.F. in Perth.  They told us you’d all got of Batavia and that the ‘Brook Vyner’ with the other girls on had been lost.  We were briefed by security ‘not to talk’, and they denied that, and we didn’t  hear it was true for ages.  
Here I am leaving out her personal history which ends-
Posted back to Singapore with the occupation troops.  We hear all sorts of different stories.  People writing books, people who were there, and then the P.O.W. girls who survived from the ‘Brook Vyner’, and the Banka Straits Terror.  Personally I think everyone has left it too late.  Recently we were asked to tell our story for someone doing a thesis on Australian Nursing Service.  I am afraid now we only remember the funny things.  Forty – five years is too long to ask you’.
Most I remember that day on the Empire Star were two R.A.F. Corporals who were down in the hold with us who started community singing and did they sing, and they made everyone else do so. Sixty Australians and sixty Queen Alexander and Indian nurses, and one lass filing her nails furiously all the time, and another saying “ Our Mothers will never know how we died”.  It was a long four hours, with three direct hits and forty near misses.  The boat moved up from the near misses and then down again, and our tummies with it.  Then we did two hour shifts with the wounded until we got to Batavia. 
Did you know Captain Capon recommended two nursing sisters for bravery?  They were up on deck and tried to bring the wounded in, then covered them with their bodies when they couldn’t.  Margaret Anderson got a George Cross and Torney an O.B.E. Both of them Victorians, but you rarely ever see any mention of that. 
Someone I think told me the Empire Star was torpedoed twice and eventually lost with the Captain in the North Sea.  See what happens when you start remembering?
The letter end as follows:
I keep reasonably well.  We are all in our seventies and a lot in our eighties and lots falling by the wayside, but we’ve had a good innings.
Best of luck for the future,
Yours Sincerely,
Mavis Mulvihill.
I am sure she would not mind my having passed on these extracts, as I have left out her personal story from the “Brook Vyner”.

Feb 12th 1942
When the bombing started, Leo Arden and I were up under the bow deck.  As it was only one deck of protection above us we decided we would be better under the bridge deck and superstructure, as it would give up to three layers of protection above us. During one attack I lay as flat as I could behind some planks, but as I was fairly big, I felt I was higher above the deck than others who were doing the same.  It was a very odd feeling.  In between bombs we would rush out to the railing to see what next. An escorting destroyer was doing some amazing manoeuvres in trying to present a difficult target, and so were we.  Later in Batavia I saw the destroyer, and it had one of its guns blown clean off.  One of the crew said how they were with us was they had been sent to collect the New Zealand 488 Squadron urgently needed to service Hurricane Fighters, as the English Squadron had been sunk on the way to Java.  He said it was to be regarded as a ‘suicide mission’.  However they met us on the way out and so escorted us instead. The machine guns were manned by Australian gunners and some selected from our Squadron as well.  (A.C.I.Cottrill received the M.M. for shooting down an aircraft.
The gunners and crew have shown great heroism, many of them air force personnel. The ship’s crew have been wonderful.  The gun on the stern was manned and fired all the time, even though it had no protection whatsoever as it was only for use against a following warship.  About a four inch bore.  Above us a ships officer stood on top of the bridge, totally unprotected and shouted instructions to the captain below when the attacks came.  On those instructions, the captain manoeuvred the ship to avoid bombs.  That was what undoubtedly saved us.  A bomb hit the superstructure just above us, a terrific noise, and it killed a Wing Commander, R.A.F, who was sheltering in a cabin.  A burial at sea has been held for both him and all those others killed in the attacks who had just been put overboard during the fight for survival.  It was a most impressive ceremony, especially when he was consigned to the deep at the end of the service.  It is embedded in my memory forever. 
We had two direct hits from high explosive bombs and one incendiary which did not go off, and the ship had been showered with thousands of rounds of machine gun bullets.  Luckily the incendiary did not ignite as it landed near to some refuelling tankers which incredibly were still full of high octane benzene.  They should have been drained.  We had sixteen near misses which rocked the boat terribly.  We all thought it was the end.  Consider we were attacked by a total of, by my count, one hundred and forty seven aircraft in five hours. A great many bombs fell a long way off but we still felt the jar.  It was horrible, terrifying and nearly sent a chap mad when he had experienced Japanese bombing before, and knew how accurate it was.  I saw tough hardened men on their knees, praying.  Some of the R.A.F. were scarcely more than boys, and I saw one with tears streaming down his face.  I have a black hatred of all those whose incompetence has brought all this about.

Feb 13th 1942
We were not attacked at all today and we reached Batavia at about midnight, but we did not dock.  A strange thing happened during the morning though. A convoy, of by my count eleven ships appeared on our port side and slightly ahead. They were flying no flags and by their general direction, appeared Palembang bound.  Our ship gave no recognition and kept on edging over towards the left of the convoy which eventually disappeared over the horizon to the right.  It can’t have been from Singapore, as we were the last to leave.  
The captain apparently concluded that the convoy was neither ours nor Dutch, as we had lost control of the sea completely in this area, so he took his chances that the convoy would think we were one of theirs.  As written, he edged over and nothing happened.  
Apparently the convoy was of troopships taking the invasion Japanese Forces to Sumatra as we have since learned, and as we appeared to be one of them the Japanese Air force did not attack us.  We also believe that as we had been set on fire at one point in the escape, the enemy concluded that we must have sunk in the night. These factors and other smaller reasons were why we escaped another pounding from the air, something we might not have been able to survive a second time.  So passed another episode in our miraculous saga of escape.  In a letter to one of our squadron members, A.C.I.Cottrill, m.m., the captain of the ship, the Empire Star wrote as follows.
Quote:
‘I cannot adequately express my feelings because, strange as it may perhaps seem, nevertheless perfectly true, there are times when deep down I’m apt to be somewhat emotional.  Suffice it then for me to say that I’ve now got a very soft spot in my heart for all the Officers and lads of the R.A.F. and R.N.Z.A.F. for whom my ship was privileged to afford a timely ‘let-out’ in their hour of desperate need.  For the miraculous survival from the sustained ordeal to which we were subjected that never-to-be-forgotten morning of 12th February we, each and every one of us at the time, have every reason for the rest of our lives to be thankful to a merciful providence, of whom, as I afterwards pointed out and can here repeat, I myself was but the very humble agent’. End of quote.
The letter was signed by Selwyn N.Capon, O.B.E.,and Commander.  
The term ‘Merciful Providence’ sums it up perfectly.


Feb 14th 1942
We docked early this morning, but did not get off the boat until mid-day, and then only after a rather nasty experience.  All other aboard were taken ashore, but we were left for hours, just waiting, and given no explanation.  Eventually, a ranking British Officer arrived on the scene and asked exactly who these men were – that was us. When he found out it was the New Zealand 488 Fighter Squadron ground staff attached to the R.A.F., he said in a very nasty manner that we had no right to be in Batavia and we were supposed to have remained in Singapore as Prisoners of War.  A token force representing the R.A.F., as we had been the last servicing unit on the island, and that was the arrangement.  Once more the Poms using us as a sacrifice, saving their own men and using us to make it look right.  However, it did not work this time.
We were taken to a school in the white quarter. It is quite nice here so far.  We have no money except Singapore money, but I believe we can change it here.  
Have been and changed my money, and am now going out to look for a feed. Bully and biscuits are getting monotonous.

Feb 15th 1942
We are just resting at present.  We might be working soon.

Feb 16th 1942
Still resting.  Food very scarce.  I have been buying small pineapples from the natives along the bank.  Apparently they steal the small rejects from the canning factory and sell them to us.  Today I have seen some of the survivors from the ship sunk when taking  air force servicing units to Palembang.  It was supposed to have been us.  I remember buses waiting for days on end at our school barracks in Singapore. They were to take us to the docks when a ship arrived, and we were packed in readiness to leave at a moment’s notice.  The Poms found out an jumped in ahead of us as their Officers outranked ours.  They actually did us a good turn, as I have never seen anything like the sunburn and blistering those poor survivors suffered.  Another of our cats nine lives used up.  
Went up town with Leo Arden and we found a small café where we were able to order steaks.  Horse meat, a dirty grey in colour but to us hungry ones it was delicious.  A Dutchman gave us some frog’s legs from his order, and they too were delicious and tasted like a cross between oysters and whitebait. I also met an Australian nurse who had escaped with us and she said she was leaving the next day for Australia.  I gave her a short note together with a photograph which she offered to post to my fiancée.  
She did get in touch with my fiancée and forty five years later I found the letter and got in touch with her by a searching letter and some of her reply I have included with the Feb 12th entries.

Feb 17th 1942
Got on board a train at eleven o clock to go to a rest camp, but the order was cancelled.  I have since found out that our destination was not to be a rest camp but we were being put in the front line in readiness for the expected Japanese invasion.  The British were once more washing their hands of us poor colonials.  However, they found that they needed us to service the Hurricane Fighters.  We are going to work tomorrow. 

Feb 18th 1942
“A” Flight and half of workshops maintenance went to work today to an airport about ten miles out of Batavia.  The rest of us filled in time at the barracks.  We get a small piece of bread and a slice of bully beef for a meal and to get this, we queue up for hours with the queue stretching hundreds of yards.  It is easier to go up town and pay for a meal at a café, although food seems to be getting harder to obtain now. Last night I believe the English Officers had a sign put up outside the premier nightclub reading “Officers only”.  The Dutch did not take kindly to this and promptly threw all out all the English Officers. The Dutch are much less class conscious.  We went to the open air pictures this evening, and the Dutch Colonial Officials did try to push in at the head of the queue in front of the troops, but the New Zealanders elbowed them aside, unlike the Dutch Colonial troops who stood aside. This place is full of contrasts and contradictions.  

Feb 19th 1942
“B” Flight went out to the aerodrome today. The first thing that Leo Arden and I did was to dig ourselves a foxhole near the machine we were looking after.  It was very hard work in the sun, and we were very weak from no food or sleep for so long.  At least the Dutch on the drome have fed us well.  The R.A.F. doesn’t care how we eat.  We are only colonials.  The rotten, dirty, whining, creepy, crawling little pommies.  They ran out of Singapore, and we all got their planes to service.  All a pommie can do is strategically retreat.  The kind we got in Singapore anyway.  The dregs of the country and conscripts at that.  The heads all liked to live a rotten, degrading immoral life, which was the social life in Singapore.  Rotten to the core.  Too much roughing it in Raffles Hotel, the best hotel in the place.  All allegations to the rottenest we read about in the papers are true.  Singapore the cesspool of the east.  The perfect place for the second rate English.  The place the heads in England sent all their failures.  Witness the R.A.F. bungle, the Army blunder, but the Navy is magnificent, and 488 Squadron was recognised as the best in Malaya.  The pilots said that never in the “Battle of Britain” had they such service as our ground staff gave them.  The services of Singapore were lousy with dumb stupid pommies making the whole system top heavy, and with commissioned ranking officers who had the intelligence of a child of two.  
NOTE:
This is absolutely verbatim from my diary, and shows the depth of feeling felt towards the Far Eastern Command.  How I ever came to write in such terms amazes me now, and I find it hard, after almost fifty years, to realise that I expressed my feelings so strongly.
For example, an Air Commodore telling men to pick up paper, pull up their socks, and so forth.  Barracks square stuff.  At this time, the Kallang airfield was littered with wrecked aircraft, burnt out tankers, and pock-marked all over with bomb craters. Most of the buildings were destroyed or severely damaged, and to be caught above ground in a raid meant almost certain death.  
All this barracks square stuff was discarded by the Japanese many years ago.  Hence Japanese efficiency – our inefficiency.  Why can’t we have men of ability running our forces, our mighty armed forces, instead of moneyed socialites who have intermarried for so long so as to hang on to their money and social position.  They are now no longer intelligent human beings, but just a pack of doddering imbeciles with one track minds, mainly leading to booze and women. The downfall of Singapore.

Feb 20th 1942
“A” Flight went again today to the drome.  I went to town and had a feed.  Also visited town again at night with Wally, and we had a meal at a nightclub.  The Dutch don’t like the English, but when they find out we are New Zealanders, they can’t do enough for us.  Today Leo bought a knife with about a dozen gadgets, including a pair of pliers.  I have since found out it is called a swiss army knife.

Feb 21st 1942
“B” Flight went to the drome today.  The R.A.F. have taken over the drome, and there is no food at all for us.  It is all so different to the Dutch, who gave us huge meals and tea or coffee.  This only confirms my opinion expressed earlier of the incompetence and ruthless attitude of English Officers towards their ordinary troops.  I spoke to two British soldiers who had been all day out in the boiling hot sun with no shelter at all, manning a light machine gun post which was only a hole dug in the ground.  They had had no food or water the whole time.  Contemptible treatment.  There were two air raid alarms.  A Yankee Kittyhawk from another drome shot down a reconnaissance kite (plane) today. I have seen my first Kittyhawk today, a crashed one on the far side of the drome.  The truck broke down on the way back to the barracks. We arrived back very late and had to scrounge for our own food.  The engine on the thornycroft truck had seized up. My shoes almost falling to pieces.  They won’t last long.

Feb 22nd 1942
Another Squadron has taken over our aircraft, but some of our pilots are staying. We are to pack ready to go at a moment’s notice.  Bought a pair of Bata slippers at a native shop.  I have since found out that the New Zealand Government  became aware of our predicament and requested that if possible we were to be saved, as at this point in time, it was only a matter of days that the Dutch East Indies would fall to the Japanese.

Feb 23rd 1942
We have left Batavia today in the “Deucalion”.  Thank goodness.  The Captain agreed to take us with him to Australia, but we had to provide our own food.  Flt/Sgt’s Guiniven and Chandler have organised supplies in town but they are very limited, as food is becoming scarce.  They got mostly bully beef, biscuits, and tinned plums.  We left the school for the docks at about 7am and embarked in pouring rain.  Sailed about half past three.  We are told we are expected to pass through the Sunda Straights at about midnight.  We understand seven ships that have tried to run the gauntlet through the straits have all been sunk by submarines.  The passage is being cleared for us by what appear to be two cruisers and a destroyer, which is shepherding us fairly closely.  At midnight, we are all on deck with all our equipment and life jackets.  The troops on board comprised 488 Squadron, R.A.F., the remnants of 243 and other Squadrons, a couple of R.A.F. Pilots (Officers), and a few stray soldiers.  Just at sunset, a heavy cruiser came and circled around us, and it was described to me by a naval man as the renowned “Exeter” of River Plate fame.  It was early evening and she was silhouetted against the setting sun and on a calm sea.  She was a magnificently beautiful sight, giving the impression of tremendous power coupled with the grace and beauty of a racing yacht.  It was an awe-inspiring sight and will never be forgotten.
I have found out since that the warships comprised a gunboat and two destroyers, one of which was the famous American Warship “U.S.S.Houston”, known in their folklore as “The Galloping Ghost” in recognition of its fabulous exploits.
Sadly, these three Warships, together with the “Exeter”, joined up with the combined Far East Fleet of mainly Dutch with a few British and Australian Warships, and soon afterwards were all sunk in the Battle of the Java Sea.  As regards the “Exeter” of Battle of the River Plate fame, when the pocket Battleship “Graf Spee” was sunk, after seeing it that evening in all its glory, it was impossible to envisage the destruction of such a ship.
 “However such are our dreams”.
I have also included these notes at the end of my transcript of Hargreaves diary which terminated on this date.  I recently edited and typed this diary at the request of his great friend L.A.C.Jack  Mant.
It is of interest that how the “Deucalion” came to be in Batavia at that time, was that it had been mixed up on the fringe of a sea battle on the northern side of Java and only escaped by running through reef infested waters.  The bottom was damaged and the ship put into Batavia for inspection by divers to see if it was safe enough to continue to Australia.  The verdict was favourable, so we had another timely let-out when we were allowed on board for the voyage.
Hargreaves diary has February 22nd as the date of leaving Batavia, but both I and the late Leo Arden have February 23rd entered in our records. Under the prevailing circumstances each day was just another day of survival and entries could easily be confused with either a double entry or an omission occurring.  Writing could only be done at disparate times as the opportunity arose.

Feb 24th 1942
We are now out of the Straits.  Tonight we will be out of bomber range and will have little to fear from submarines.

Feb 25th 1942
All quiet today. Food a bit scarce.  Bully, biscuits and plums.

Feb 26th 1942
All quiet again today.  Food still a bit scarce and the same as yesterday.  We are deck cargo and sleep on top of the hatches.  Some of the English sleep below decks.  I am beside two R.A.A.F. Officers.  They feel the same as we do about the past events.


Feb 27th 1942
Nothing of interest except that all the machine gun nests are still being manned in case of attack but very unlikely. A star is shining all day long. When first seen it was thought to be a high flying aircraft, but when it remained stationary, it was identified as a star.  Quite remarkable.

Feb 28th 1942
Nothing of interest. Food getting very scarce.  I feel quite hungry.

March 1st 1942
A quiet but hungry day today. Also I managed to buy some biscuits from the ships stores. 

March 2nd 1942
Last night we were attacked by enemy submarine, but its torpedoes missed, and there was an explosion about a mile on our starboard side.  We were only about 130 miles from Fremantle.  
This episode is fully covered under a separate heading entitled “The Torpedo that missed”.  I wrote this some time ago at the request of several 488 Squadron members.
We were taken off the boat in the afternoon and are now in Claremont receiving depot, about ten miles from Perth.  We were given a marvellous meal.  Stew, potatoes and vegetables with fresh bread and real butter.  The Commanding Officer, an Army man, welcomed us and said although food was scarce, if we wanted a return to be in.  He said this with a sweeping gesture of his arm and we all took advantage of the offer.
I have since read that owing to the War and mobilisation, there was a serious shortage in Perth and Western Australia at that time.  It seems now to be incredible but was a problem at the time.
We did appreciate the wonderful meal after two months of bully and biscuits.  What had made it so hard was we were only receiving two thirds iron rations most of the time, and often nothing. It is a wonderful feeling of relief and happiness to be here.

March 3rd 1942
We did not see Perth after all, as we are now moved to Northam Camp about 65 miles from Perth northwards on the way to Kalgoorlie.  This camp holds about 10,000 Army all told and is like a real township, and covers thousands of acres.

March 4th 1942
Just eating and resting.  My shoes have finally fallen to pieces and so I am wearing slippers full time now.  Today the highest ranking Officer with us, an English Wing Commander gave us a talk on what was expected of us at this camp.  He imposed tough rules on us that made it almost seem we were confined to camp.  The Australian Camp Commandant then stood up and said while in his camp we were under his rules and Army Regulations.  He said we could come and go as we pleased but if we were late home at night we must not come through the guard-house , but return by way of the A.W.O.L.(absent without official leave gate) at the rear of the camp. He said the path was marked with stones painted white so as to show the way.   We were warned that West Australian beer was stronger and to take care, and to treat their women with respect.  The Wing Commander appeared quite upset at the difference between English and Australian attitudes towards ordinary ranks. Anyway Flt/Sgts Guiniven and Chandler look after us well.  We have great respect for them and would not let them down.

March 5th 1942
Just eating and resting.  Occasional parade.

March 6th 1942
Same routine.  Sleeping in wooden and corrugated iron barrack sheds on the floor.  We were issued with two grey blankets each – beautiful quality. Mine are Onkaparinga brand with a heavy brushed pile.  We can buy beautiful black grapes down the road for three pence a pound, and four pence for white muscatel grapes.

March 7th 1942
We don’t know when we are leaving or how for the eastern states, either by train or boat.



March 8th 1942
Eating and resting and an occasional parade. The Y.M.C.A. building here is huge and movies are shown outside in good weather and inside when it is wet. Tonight we had a tropical storm with rain and forked lightning.  The Y.M.C.A. canteen sells ginger beer out of a wooden cask – a lovely drink.  Leo Arden has had a bad tropical ulcer on his thigh, but with the good food and vegetables it is getting slightly better.  It had eaten a huge hole in his leg. The Doctor said it would cure itself after a diet with green vegetables.

March 9th 1942
We are all starting to put on a bit of weight again.  Some have eaten too many grapes and oranges with the inevitable results – like a dose of Epsom Salts. Still wandering about in slippers. Have been for days as footwear worn out and I can’t get any more.  Still resting and eating.  When I go to town I borrow shoes from someone who is not going out.

March 10th 1942
Usual routine, only with exception that I kicked up a fuss about some footwear, result was excused parades, fatigues etc until footwear arrives. The Wing Commander seems to have gone from here.  He won’t be missed.  He never had anything to do with us anyway.



March 11th 1942
Had a swim in the river today.  Quite enjoyable too.  Still no footwear.  Usual routine.

March 12th 1942
Same old routine.  No shoes yet.

March 13th 1942
Issued with shoes today.  Many others required them as well as myself.  Flt/Sgts Guiniven and Chandler were personally responsible for obtaining the footwear.  They really look after their men.

March 14th 1942
We spent the day shifting drums of 100 octane benzine to dispersal points with 39 other air force personnel.  We have also had an Australian Army Staff/Sgt detailed to look after us and he has done a good job in restoring morale etc, and keeping us occupied and preventing boredom setting in.

March 15th 1942
A day of relaxation – Sunday but no leave to go to Perth.  I guess we must be leaving soon.
 

March 16th 1942
We are all ready to go.  We are getting supper at 9-00 p.m.  After that who knows what time we leave.  I don’t know.

March 17th 1942
We entrained at 12-30 a.m. I was very lucky and got into a sleeping car in which we travelled to Kalgoorlie, arriving there about two in the afternoon.  Here we changed from narrow gauge track to a four foot ten inch gauge of the Trans-Continental Railways, and again we got a sleeper. Five men to two bunks, but we managed.  One in the luggage compartment, one in the top bunk, two in the lower bunk and one on the floor.  I was on the seat on the floor – it was alright too.  We had good food all the way to Kalgoorlie.
On the way to Kalgoorlie we ate in the dining car, but after that we ate in our carriages as it was brought around in dixies and dished out.  On the way to Kalgoorlie eight of us slept double bunked in a four person compartment.  We sort of took turns sleeping.  

March 18th 1942
We changed positions for the next night, and slept one in the top bunk, two in the bottom bunk, and one on the floor with the fifth person in the compartment car passageway.  We sort of took turns at sleeping once again, and it was much more comfortable for the chap who had previously had the luggage rack.  The day was enjoyable.  We started off with lemonade to quench our thirst while passing through the desert.  Three hundred and sixty miles at one time in a straight line through dead flat barren desert, and right in the middle of that straight we stopped to replenish the water for the locomotive boiler.  All the water for this has to be transported.  As we approached the tank there was no sign of life at all, but mysteriously as it seemed, Aborigines appeared from nowhere. The men wore very little but the women mostly dressed in red flannel loose fitting dresses, almost like singlets.  It was a very hot dry heat during the day, but the nights were cool.  

March 19th 1942
Changed trains at about 2-30 in the morning at Port Pirie.  Arrived at R.A.A.F.  Station Mullala at about 8am.  We were given a good breakfast and felt pretty good.  Working and resting.  Able to buy milk in waxed paper cartons.   Have spent a few days sightseeing in and around Adelaide and then embarked at the port of Adelaide aboard the “Esperance Bay” and sailed early on the morning of March 23rd 1942 for New Zealand.  Arrived back on April 1st 1942. After a fairly rough trip, we arrived back home and were immediately re-outfitted and given a week’s leave.  The Squadron is to be split up to form the nucleus of several Squadrons.  
END OF 488 SQUADRON AS WE KNEW IT.
NOTE:
I have heard that Squadron Leader Manhire, the Commanding Officer of the Technical Training School R.N.Z.A.F., was concerned that the New Zealand ground staff, many of whom he had been instrumental in having trained to a very high standard, could be lost to the R.N.Z.A.F. by being absorbed overseas.  He is reputed to have said it was too great a loss of all that training, and he went to Australia to search for us immediately after we landed at Fremantle.  Our paths never crossed, but what part he played in having us returned I never found out.  However, this is only rumour.
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